1997

Grayce Hurd, Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd I. Hurd, Deceased v. Lewellyn J. Sherman, Connie Sherman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final Judgment and Order of the Sixth Judicial District Court, Kane County, Kanab Department, State of Utah, the Honorable David L. Mower, presiding wherein after a trial date on April 4, 1996, the Court ordered that the constructive trust created by the parties was terminated, and that the items transferred to the defendants, either of them, as

constructive trustees, shall be delivered to the plaintiff within a ten (10) day period from the date of the Court's Order. In addition to the items to be transferred from the defendants to the plaintiff, see Addendum A (subparagraphs a-e), the trial court granted judgment against the defendants in the sum of \$20,000.00 and costs. Id.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The present appeal arises out of the conveyance of real property, the transfer of funds from a checking account, and the transfer of personal property. The plaintiffs are, Grayce Hurd ("Grayce"), as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd I. Hurd ("Mr. Hurd") and Grayce, Hurd, personally, See Addendum B at ¶ 1. The defendants are Lewellyn Sherman ("Mr. Sherman") and Connie Sherman ("Ms. Sherman"). Id. at ¶ 1.

Mr. Hurd and Grayce lived together since approximately 1964, however, they never entered into a formal marriage contract. Id. at ¶ 6. R-256, 377, 386, 392, 226, 236. No children were born during the course of their relationship. Id. At no time prior to the death or since the death of Mr. Hurd has there been any judicial proceeding or administrative proceeding wherein Grayce was declared to be the common-law wife of Mr. Hurd. R-157, 399. Mr. Hurd died on June 3, 1992, see Addendum B at ¶ 5 and, accordingly, the relationship between Mr. Hurd and Grayce ended.

Prior to Mr. Hurd's death, he met with attorney Keith Eddington ("Mr. Eddington"). R-357. This meeting occurred at the residence of Mr. Sherman, and was in response to a request that Mr. Eddington prepare, review, and advise Mr. Hurd on a Power of Attorney document. R-361, 363, 365.

During the meeting between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Eddington, Mr. Hurd was advised by Mr. Eddington of what rights he would be relinquishing by executing the Power of Attorney. R-359, 361. Essentially, Mr. Hurd was informed by Mr. Eddington that if he executed the Power of Attorney, designating Mr. Sherman as the attorney-in-fact, he would be permitting Mr. Sherman to act as though he was Mr. Hurd. R-359, 361.

Due to the legal significance of a Power of Attorney, Mr. Eddington's concern was whether Mr. Hurd understood what was happening, whether or not that was his wish, and whether the execution of the Power of Attorney was being forced upon him. R-357. Mr. Eddington's conclusion was that the Power of Attorney was not being forced upon Mr. Hurd, and that he understood what was going on. R-357, 361. In fact, Mr. Eddington testified that Mr. Hurd made it clear that it was his wish to execute the Power of Attorney; there was no hesitation on Mr. Hurd's part when he executed the Power of Attorney. R-361. With respect to the Power of Attorney, it was Mr. Hurd's desire to execute it in

favor of Mr. Sherman because he trusted him. R-359. Part of the considerations for executing the Power of Attorney in favor of Mr. Sherman was because Mr. Hurd wanted to see that Grayce was taken care of. R-365. (Power of Attorney is found at plaintiffs' Exhibit no. 23.)

During the course of their meeting, Mr. Hurd and Mr. Eddington also discussed gift taxes and the ability to transfer \$10,000.00 tax free. R-360. Mr. Hurd also inquired about what potential problems might arise if he transferred all of his property to Mr. Sherman. R-360. Mr. Eddington informed him that he did not know the value of his estate, however, if it was over \$10,000.00, he could have a gift tax problem. Id. Mr. Eddington further informed Mr. Hurd that if he wanted to disperse it between the children of Grayce, he could most likely get away with that. Id. Mr. Hurd responded by informing Mr. Eddington that he did not trust the other children, but he did trust Mr. Sherman with Grayce. Id.

Regarding the transfer of property, Mr. Hurd did not inform Mr. Eddington that he had a conversation with either Mr. Sherman or Ms. Sherman. R-361. With respect to being advised on money matters, neither defendant ever advised Mr. Hurd about these matters. R-389, 402, 407, 409. Mr. Sherman also neither induced Mr. Hurd to transfer the home into his name nor to execute the

Power of Attorney in his name. R-411, 415. Mr. Hurd had informed Lorna Guenther, his cousin (R-222), while at the V. A. Hospital (R-223) prior to his staying at the defendants' home and prior to meeting Mr. Eddington, that he was going to give Mr. Sherman Power of Attorney and to have his home and all property transferred to and to belong to Mr. Sherman. R-226-228, 230-231. These same statements were made to Kenneth and Deon Lamb at a different time at the V. A. Hospital prior to Mr. Hurd staying at the defendants' home that he, Mr. Hurd, was going to give his property and home to Mr. Sherman and give Mr. Sherman Power of Attorney over all his property. R-373, 375, 381-382. Kenneth Lamb was Mr. Hurd's cousin. R-368.

With respect to Mr. Hurd's bank account at Zions Bank, Mr. Sherman was instructed by Mr. Hurd to withdraw the money and to transfer the money into an account in his name. R-412, 413. (Note: The account was sole owned and held by Mr. Hurd.) An additional discussion occurred regarding the transfer of the funds, which was that the transfer of funds were to be as gifts. R-412, 413. First, there was to be a \$10,000.00 gift for Mr. Sherman and, second, there was to be a \$10,000.00 gift for Ms. Sherman. An additional instruction from Mr. Hurd to Mr. Sherman was that he was to transfer the home into his name. R-415. Mr. Hurd attempted to explain the gift transfer of the bank monies

but Grayce states she didn't understand what Mr. Hurd meant. R-400-401.

To effectuate the conveyance of the real property, Grayce and Mr. Sherman signed a quitclaim deed, which said deed was recorded on June 2, 1992. See Addendum B ¶ 22. See also plaintiffs' Exhibit no. 21. The grantors were Mr. Hurd and Grayce Hurd, husband and wife, and the grantees were Mr. Sherman and Ms. Sherman, as joint tenants with full rights of survivorship, and not as tenants in common. Mr. Sherman signed the quitclaim deed as the attorney-in-fact. Grayce signed the quitclaim deed after she and Mr. Hurd discussed signing the quitclaim deed, and then she signed because they (Grayce and Mr. Hurd) mutually agreed she sign. R-318, 321. In fact, all of the personal property (truck, trailer, etc.) which was signed over to Mr. Sherman by Grayce was done after she and Mr. Hurd talked about it, then mutually agreed to sign it over. R-318-321. The record is devoid of any evidence of any discussions or requests from either defendant to Grayce to transfer property held in her name to either defendant.

Regarding the trial court's Findings of Fact, the Court found that Mr. Hurd and Grayce lived in several different cities, and acquired both real and personal property over the years. See Addendum B ¶ 7(a). That the two had filed tax returns with the

IRS and the State of Utah for the calendar year of 1986, which said filing status indicated that they were filing as married, and filing jointly. Id. at ¶ 7(b). That on June 10, 1985, they received a warranty deed from Georgia Phelps in which the grantees were Mr. Hurd and Grayce, his wife. Id. at ¶ 7(c). That on that same date, they purchased title insurance in the names of Mr. Hurd and Grayce Hurd, his wife. Id. at ¶ 7(d). That in June and July of 1986, they maintained a joint checking account with Zions First National Bank, Kanab Office. Id. at ¶ 7(d). From 1984 to 1986, they maintained a joint checking account with Valley Bank and Trust, Granger-Hunter Office; the account was in the names of Mr. Lloyd Hurd and Mrs. Lloyd Hurd. Id. at ¶ 7(e).

The trial court found on June 1, 1992, Mr. Hurd and Grayce owned the following items of property:

a. A house and lot located in Kanab, Kane County, State of Utah, more particularly described as:

Beginning at a point 6.0 rods East of the Southwest corner of Lot 2, Block 26, Plat "A" of the official survey of Kanab Townsite, and running thence East 6.0 rods, then north 108.75⁰; thence West 6.0 rods; thence South 108.75⁰ to the point of beginning;

b. Two shares of stock in the Kanab irrigation Company;

c. A travel trailer, fifth-wheel type, Teton brand, 1978 model;

- d. A travel trailer, 18 feet long, Kit Companion brand;
- e. A 1977 Chevrolet pickup truck;
- f. A 1980 Oldsmobile automobile;
- g. A bank account at Zions First National Bank, Kanab Branch, account no: 052-50552-6, worth \$20,420.85; and
- h. A bank account at Zions First National Bank, Kanab Branch, account no: 052-33638-5, worth \$789.65. *Id.* at ¶ 9(a).

The trial court also found that on Friday, May 29, 1992, a conversation took place at Mr. Sherman's house between Mr. Hurd, Grayce, Mr. Sherman and Ms. Sherman. For the sake of brevity, the defendants incorporate those findings, see id. at ¶ 16, without setting them out. With respect to the trial court's findings regarding the conversation, it should be noted that the trial court's findings are speculative, that is, the Court found that "[t]he conversation probably went something like this[.]" Id.

The trial court further found that neither Mr. Sherman nor Ms. Sherman paid money or transferred anything of value to Grayce in exchange for the quitclaim deed, the checks, and the vehicle titles. Id. at ¶ 25.

Finally, the trial court found that one year had passed since Mr. Hurd's death, and no claims had been made by Social

Security, the Veteran's Administration, Medicare, or any long-term care provider. Id. at ¶¶ 33-34.

Based on the trial court's Findings of Fact, it made three Conclusions of Law. First, that a constructive trust had been created for the benefit of Grayce. Id. at ¶ 1. The second Conclusion of Law was that all of the property received in trust for the benefit of Grayce should be immediately returned, assigned and transferred to Grayce, including the following:

a. A house and lot located in Kanab, Kane County, State of Utah, or particularly described as:

Beginning at a point 6.0 rods East of the Southwest corner of Lot 2, Block 26, Plat "A" of the official survey of Kanab Townsite, and running thence East 6.0 rods, then north 108.75° ; thence West 6.0 rods; thence South 108.75° to the point of beginning;

b. Two shares of stock in the Kanab irrigation Company;

c. A travel trailer, 5th-wheel type, Teton brand, 1978 model;

d. A travel trailer, 18 feet long, Kit Companion brand;

e. A 1977 Chevrolet pickup truck;

f. A 1980 Oldsmobile automobile;

g. \$20,000.00 taken by defendants from Zions First National Bank, account no: 052-50552-6. Id. at ¶ 2.

The final Conclusion of Law by the trial court was that Grayce was entitled to a judgment against Mr. Sherman and Ms.

Sherman in the sum of \$20,000.00, together with court costs incurred. Id. at ¶ 3.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The defendants argue that the plaintiff is not a real party in interest, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd, based upon her claim of being the surviving spouse of Mr. Hurd because Grayce did not, within one year, obtain either a judicial or administrative order establishing that she was the common-law wife of Mr. Hurd. Because she did not establish that she was the common-law wife of Mr. Hurd, she is not the real party in interest as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd and, accordingly, she cannot bring and maintain a cause of action against the defendants in that capacity. The defendants also argue that there is no person who can bring and maintain a cause of action on behalf of the Estate because no person satisfies the enumerated factors set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-203(1)(a-f) (1987).

Additionally, the defendants assert the trial court erred when it imposed a constructive trust on the conveyed real property, transferred funds, and transferred personal property. This is because the trial did not find, by clear and convincing evidence, that "certain circumstances" existed before it imposed the constructive trust. These "certain circumstances" it should

have found are twofold. First, it should have the existence of a confidential relationship and, second, the existence of an oral promise to hold property.

The defendants also argue that the trial court erred when it determined there was no consideration for the quitclaim deed, the checks and the vehicle titles. This is because in one instance, consideration is unnecessary. In the second instance, it also was unnecessary because the transfers were gifts. In the third instance, there was sufficient consideration.

The defendants further argue that the trial court erred when it concluded that all of the previously transferred property be immediately returned because the property was transferred to create a life estate, and because any reconveyance of property places Grayce and Mr. Sherman in their respective positions, that is, tenants in common.

Finally, the defendants assert that the evidence does not establish plaintiffs' claim. Plaintiffs alleged one cause of action, fraud. As previously stated, the evidence does not establish the existence of a confidential relationship. Without the evidence demonstrating the existence of a confidential relationship, that claim must fail. Additionally, regarding plaintiffs' claim sounding in fraud, the plaintiffs failed to plead then prove, by clear and convincing evidence, the essential

elements for a claim sounding in fraud and, therefore, all claims of plaintiffs fail.

VI. ARGUMENTS

A. THE PLAINTIFF, GRAYCE HURD, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MR. HURD, CANNOT BRING AND MAINTAIN AN ACTION AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS NOR CAN ANY PERSON BRING AND MAINTAIN AN ACTION AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS ON BEHALF OF THE ESTATE

Mr. Hurd and Grayce lived together since approximately 1964, however, they never entered into a formal marriage contract. See Addendum B at ¶ 6. Based on that relationship, plaintiff Grayce Hurd asserted herself as the real party in interest as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd because she was the "surviving spouse" of Mr. Hurd. R-155, 157. See Utah Code Ann. 75-3-203(1)(d) (Supp. 1993). Grayce's assertion as the real party interest, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd, must fail.

Utah R. Civ. P. 17(a) states, in pertinent part, that "[e]very action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." "Under the rule, the real party in interest is the person entitled to enforce the right asserted under the governing substantive law." Certain Interested Underwriters v. Layne, 26 F.3d 39, 42-43 (6th Cir. 1994) (citations omitted). The defendants assert that Grayce is not entitled to enforce any right of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd, as Personal Representative

of that Estate, on the ground that she is not the surviving spouse of Mr. Hurd.

In order for Grayce to establish the existence of a common-law marriage between herself and Mr. Hurd and, thus, be the surviving spouse of Mr. Hurd, Grayce must have obtained either a court or administrative order declaring she was the common-law wife of Mr. Hurd. See Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5(1) (1987). This order must have established that the common-law marriage arose out of a contract between two consenting parties, that is, Mr. Hurd and Grayce, and the order must have also established the enumerated factors set forth in § 30-1-4.5(a-e). And, "[t]he determination or establishment of a marriage . . . must [have] occur[ed] . . . within one year following the termination of that relationship." § 30-1-4.5(2). See also Whyte v. Blair, 885 P.2d 791, 793 (Utah 1994) ("Subsection (2) states that the court or administrative order must be entered 'within one year following the termination of that relationship.'"). Also Buach v. Englehom, 906 P.2d 918 (Utah.App. 1995).

Mr. Hurd died on June 3, 1992, (see Addendum B at ¶ 5), and, accordingly, the relationship between Mr. Hurd and Grayce ended. Pursuant to § 30-1-4.5(2), Grayce had until June 3, 1993 to establish the existence of a common-law marriage between herself and Mr. Hurd. No such determination was made. Because Grayce

did not establish, within one year, that she was the common-law wife of Mr. Hurd, she cannot now act as a real party in interest, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd, based upon her assertion that she is the surviving spouse of Mr. Hurd under § 75-3-203(1)(d). Therefore, Grayce, acting in the capacity as Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd, cannot bring and maintain an action against the defendants.

Because Grayce is not the surviving spouse of Mr. Hurd, and cannot act as a Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd Hurd based upon her surviving spouse claim, and there having been no person duly appointed as a Personal Representative of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd who meets one of the requirements set forth in § 75-3-203(1)(a-f), there is no person who is a real party in interest who can bring and maintain an action on behalf of the Estate of Lloyd H. Hurd against the defendants.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST HAD BEEN CREATED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PLAINTIFF

"A constructive trust is an equitable remedy to prevent unjust enrichment in the absence of any express or implied intention to form a trust." Mattes v. Olearain, 759 P.2d 1117, 1179 (Utah App. 1988) (citing Matter of Estate of Hock, 655 P.2d 1111 (Utah 1982)). And, "under certain circumstances that equity will impress a constructive trust upon property." Nielson v. Rasmussen, 558 P.2d 511, 513 (Utah 1976). These certain

circumstances must be found to exist "by clear and convincing evidence." Id. (citing Jewell v. Horner, 366 P.2d 594 (Utah 1961) and Chambers v. Emery, 45 P. 192 (Utah 1896)). However, before a constructive trust will be impressed upon property, there must be a finding of the existence of a confidential relationship. see id. (citing Restatement (Second) of Trusts § Sec. 45(b) (1959)). See also Ashton, 733 P.2d at 151 ("The transferee at the time of the transfer was in a confidential relationship to the transferor.") (quoting Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 45(b) (1957)).

In order to find the existence of a confidential relationship, it is insufficient to find a "relationship based upon sincere affection, confidence, and trust . . . [because] such characteristics alone do not establish a confidential relationship in its legal sense." Mattes, 759 P.2d at 1179 (citing Blodgett v. Martsch, 590 P.2d 298 (Utah 1978) and Bradbury v. Rasmussen, 401 P.2d 710 (Utah 1965)) (ellipsis inserted) (bracket inserted). Instead, "[t]he doctrine of confidential relationship rests upon the principle of inequality between the parties, and implies a position of superiority occupied by one of the parties over the other[.]" id (citing Webster v. Lehmer, 742 P.2d 1203, 1206 (Utah 1987) (quoting Bradbury, 401 P.2d at 713)) (other citations omitted).

The defendants herein assert that before the trial court could impose a constructive trust on the conveyed real property, the transfer of funds as gifts, and the transfer of personal property, it should have found, first, that a confidential relationship existed between Mr. Sherman and Mr. Lloyd and, second, it should have found there was an oral promise by Mr. Sherman to Mr. Hurd to hold property.

These "certain circumstances" must exist as to Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman because Mr. Hurd executed a Power of Attorney designating Mr. Sherman as the attorney-in-fact, (R-359) and it was through this status Mr. Sherman signed the quitclaim deed as Mr. Hurd, which conveyed the real property, see Addendum B at ¶ 22; and it was through this status that Mr. Sherman transferred the funds from Mr. Hurd's personal account as gifts to himself and Ms. Sherman. R-413. As to the transfer of vehicle titles, there must also be a showing of a confidential relationship between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman because Mr. Hurd and Grayce had discussions concerning the transfer of those titles and, therefore, there should have been a finding that Mr. Sherman occupied a position of superiority over Mr. Hurd which caused Mr. Hurd to discuss the transfer of the vehicle titles with Grayce whereby Mr. Hurd could convince Grayce to transfer those titles.

With respect to the existence of a confidential relationship between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman, the trial court made no such finding. See Addendum B. Moreover, the record is devoid of evidence of a clear and convincing nature which would establish the existence of a confidential relationship between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman.

For instance, during direct examination, Mr. Kenneth Lamb when asked if there were any directives given by Mr. Sherman to transfer the property testified as follows: "No. Lloyd done that his self. Lloyd wanted that, that's the way Lloyd wanted it. He was his own mind until he died." R-375:10-11. Similarly, Mrs. Lamb testified that Mr. Hurd had his own mind, his own thoughts. Id. at 381. She also testified that he was not easily induced into doing things by others, and that he was kind of stubborn. Id. It is apparent from the Lambs testimony that Mr. Hurd was a head-strong, independent and stubborn individual. According to the Lambs testimony, it is very unlikely that Mr. Sherman occupied a position of dominance over Mr. Hurd.

Additionally, Mr. Eddington's conclusion was that the Power of Attorney was not being forced upon Mr. Hurd, Id. at 359:13, but, rather, it was Mr. Hurd's desire to execute the Power of Attorney. Id. at 361:25. This was evident because there was no hesitation on Mr. Hurd's part when he signed the Power of

Attorney. Id. at line 24. Therefore, according to Mr. Eddington's testimony, Mr. Sherman could not have occupied a position of dominance over Mr. Hurd because it was Mr. Hurd's desire to sign the Power of Attorney.

Finally, plaintiffs' own testimony refutes any claim of a confidential relationship between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman. This is because Grayce and Mr. Hurd discussed signing the quitclaim deed, and then they both came to a mutual agreement regarding the signing of the quitclaim deed based upon their discussions. Id. at 318. In fact, with respect to the transfer of personal property, Grayce and Mr. Hurd discussed the transfers, and then both mutually agreed on the transfers based upon their discussions. Id. at 318-319. Accordingly, plaintiffs' own testimony clearly shows no position of superiority by Mr. Sherman over Mr. Hurd because the decisions to transfer both real property and personal property were mutual agreements between Grayce and Mr. Hurd based upon those discussions.

Regarding the transfer of property, the evidence demonstrates that Mr. Hurd transferred his interest to Mr. Sherman because "that is the way [he] wanted it." Id. at 375. He also transferred his interest after discussing it with Grayce. Grayce voluntarily transferred her interest after she discussed the transfer with Mr. Hurd. "'In Barlow Society v. Commercial

Security Bank, 723 P.2d 398, 401 (Utah 1986), [this Court] held, "Absent fraud, duress, mistake, or the like attributable to the grantee, a competent grantor will not be permitted to attack or impeach his own deed."'" Mattes, 759 P.2d at 1179. Because the transfer was voluntarily made by the plaintiffs, and because plaintiffs cannot show the existence of fraud, see infra, subsection D, the plaintiff cannot attack or impeach her own deed.

Regarding an oral promise to hold property, the trial court did find there might have been such a conversation between Mr. Sherman to Mr. Hurd. The trial court found that the following conversation "probably" occurred. From Mr Sherman: "Let's do this: I'll keep all of the property for a year. Mom can apply for social security. If nobody says anything for a year, then we should be safe and I'll give all of the property back to her. In the meantime, she can continue living in the house. See Addendum B at ¶ 16. From Mr. Hurd: That sounds good to me, but I'm not dead yet." Id. This finding by the trial court is speculative because its finding notes that "[t]he conversation probably went something like this[.]" Id. This is speculation and conjecture by the trial court which does not satisfy the clear and convincing burden of proof. Nielson, 558 P.2d at 513.

The record is devoid of any clear and convincing evidence, Nielson, 558 P.2d at 513, which would demonstrate the existence of a confidential relationship between Mr. Hurd and Mr. Sherman. The record also fails to demonstrate, by the same burden of proof, the existence of an oral promise to hold property given by either defendant to Mr. Hurd or by either defendant to Grayce. Because the record does not establish that "certain circumstances" existed, by clear and convincing proof, the trial court erred when it imposed a constructive trust on the conveyed real property, the transfer of funds as gifts, and the transfer of personal property.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THERE WAS NO CONSIDERATION FOR THE QUITCLAIM DEED, THE CHECK OR THE VEHICLE TITLES

The trial court found that neither Mr. Sherman nor Ms. Sherman paid money or transferred anything of value to Grayce in exchange for the quitclaim deed, the checks and the vehicle titles. See Addendum B at ¶ 25. The defendants assert that the trial court erred in its finding.

With respect to the quitclaim deed, "[a]s between the parties a deed is good, with or without consideration." See Barlow Soc. v. Commercial Security Bank, 723 P.2d 398, 401 (Utah 1986) (citing Brown v. Peterson Development Co., 622 P.2d 1175 (Utah 1980)).

Regarding the trial court's finding of no consideration for the transfer of the funds, those transfer were gifts. R-413 The evidence establishes this because Mr. Hurd discussed this topic with Mr. Eddington. Id. at 360. The testimony of Kenneth Lamb, Deon Lamb and Lorna Guenther specifically set forth that Mr. Sherman was to receive the truck, trailer and house. R-225, 229, 230, 231, 373, 381-382. Mr. Hurd's conversation with Mr. Eddington was to transfer his property to Mr. Sherman and how to make a gift of property he owned to Mr. and Ms. Sherman and what the problems would be if he made the transfers. R-360. Mr. Eddington informed Mr. Hurd of the gift tax problems and other ramifications of transferring his property to Mr. Sherman. Grayce also testified that Mr. Hurd wanted his bank account monies transferred to the defendants as gifts and as gifts no consideration is necessary. R-400. (Note: Grayce's name was not on the bank accounts and she did not sign any documents for their transfer to defendants.)

With respect to the consideration for the transfer of vehicle titles, the consideration was to see that Grayce was taken care of. Id. at 365. This has in fact occurred. Defendants have allowed Grayce to remain living in the home and even have made some repairs to the home. R-412, 416. Mr. Hurd did not trust Paul Sherman or Iris Meir and believed that they

would wrongfully "steal" the property from Grayce. Nor did Mr. Hurd believe Grayce should have the property. R-226, 227, 231, 360, 365. This testimony is objective testimony because it came from objective witnesses, Mr. Eddington, Kenneth Lamb, Deon Lamb and Lorna Guenther. Id. The plaintiff also testified that there was consideration for the transfers. During examination by plaintiffs' counsel, plaintiff testified to the following: "Lloyd also talked to Lewellyn about it, and he said, I want to know that Grayce will be taken care of?" Thus, the trial court erred when it found there was no consideration for the transfer of real property, checks and vehicle titles.

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