1997

Grayce Hurd, Personal Representative of the Estat of Lloyd I, Hurd, Deceased v. Lewllyn J. Sherman, Connie Sherman : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Grayce and Lloyd transferred all of the property, as well as all of the funds they owned to Lewellyn and Connie. The property was transferred without consideration because Grayce and Lloyd were told by Defendants they must get the property out of their names or the State would take it from them. Defendants also advised Grayce she could lose her Social Security if the property was held in her name. Lloyd signed a power of attorney designating Lewellyn as his attorney in fact and Lewellyn made the transfers. Grayce was able to go with Lewellyn and make such assignments, deed executions and did such other things as were necessary to transfer property interests.

The execution and use of the power of attorney created a principal-agent fiduciary relationship. The mother and son and daughter-in-law relationship created a presumption of a confidential relationship. Therefore, the burden of proof was upon the Defendants to show their actions were fair and equitable.

Defendants were obligated to hold the property for the benefit of Lloyd and Grayce during his lifetime. Upon Lloyd's death, the property was to be returned within one year to Grayce. Lloyd died on the 3rd day of June, 1992 and to this date Defendants have refused to return Plaintiff's property.

A constructive trust was found to exist because of the fiduciary relationship. Defendants have not been able to marshall evidence to impeach the Findings, Conclusions and Judgment of the District Court.

VI. ARGUMENTS

A. THE PLAINTIFF, GRAYCE HURD, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF MR. HURD (LLOYD) CORRECTLY BROUGHT AND MAINTAINED AN ACTION AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS.

Appellants raise for the first time on appeal the question of whether the plaintiff as a personal representative of the estate of Lloyd is a real party in interest. The basis for the argument is that a formal marriage contract was not entered into between Grayce and Lloyd and suggests that she must be found to be the "surviving spouse" of Lloyd in order to have a real interest. Section 75-3-203(1)(d) is cited to support their argument.

The answer of Defendants filed in the matter admits the appointment of Grayce as the Personal Representative of the estate of Lloyd (See ¶ 1 of Answer - R.12). Section 75-3-203 establishes priority among persons seeking appointment as Personal Representative of an estate and has no application in these proceedings. The appointment was made upon appropriate probate petition and Letters Testamentary were issued to Grayce. There has been no objection filed in the probate proceedings. She is the appointed and qualified person to marshall the assets of the estate and to supervise the distribution of these assets to the heirs entitled to such distribution. Defendants (Lewellyn and Connie) have no standing in this separate proceedings to challenge the appointment.

A person is not disqualified to act as a Personal Representative merely because she claims property which is also claimed by the estate. (See Farnsworth v. Hatch, 47 Utah 62, 151

P.537 [1915])).

A personal representative has the obligation to "receive assets from fiduciaries" (75-3-714[2]). Therefore Grayce was obligated to seek a court determination for the recovery of assets held by Defendant and also to secure a determination as to the division of those assets between herself and the estate of Lloyd Hurd, deceased.

Since a District Court found a resulting trust wherein the trustees held the assets for the benefit of Grayce, all of the assets are required to be returned to her.

Considerable evidence was presented to the District Court concerning the relationship of Grayce and Lloyd. They were together for a period of approximately thirty (30) years. However, the purpose of the evidence was to show the relationship between the parties, their joint investment and ownership of properties, and their contributions to the resulting trust as well as demonstrating Lloyd's interest in designating Grayce as a beneficiary under the trust.

The foregoing issue is not only moot, it is also not material. Further, it is not an issue raised in the pleadings nor was it presented to the trial court. The issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal (Park City Utah Corporation v. Ensign Company, [1978 Utah] 586 P.2d 416; Hanover Limited v. Fields 568 P.2d 75 [1977 Utah]).

B. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST HAD BEEN CREATED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE PLAINTIFF.

A constructive trust is an equitable remedy which arises by

operation of law to prevent unjust enrichment. Accordingly, parol evidence may be introduced to establish a constructive trust, Ashton v. Ashton, 733 P.2D 147 (Utah 1987).

Ashton cites the following from the Restatement (Second) of Trusts §45 (1957):

Effect of Failure of Oral Trust for a Third Person
(1) Where the owner of an interest in land transfers it inter vivos to another in trust for a third person, but no memorandum properly evidencing the intention to create a trust is signed, as required by the Statute of Frauds, and the transferee refuses to perform the trust, the transferee holds the interest upon a constructive trust for the third person, if, but only if,

...

(b) The transferee at the time of the transfer was in a confidential relation to the transferor.

It follows that in order to find a constructive trust existing, the lower court found a confidential relationship.

The Wyoming case of Fuller v. Fuller, 606 P.2d 306 addressed this situation and stated:

We have held that a trust is an obligation arising out of a confidence reposed in a person to apply property faithfully. (Citations omitted) We have said that a trust - in its technical sense is an obligation of a person arising out of a confidence reposed in him to apply property faithfully and according to such confidence. A trust, is a fiduciary relationship in which one person is the holder of titled property subject to an equitable obligation to keep or use property for the benefit of another.

In Ashton the Supreme Court of Utah made similar observations, at page 151:

In Parks, we described an express trust as a fiduciary relationship with respect to property, arising as a result of a manifestation of intent to create it and

subjecting the person in whom title is vested to equitable duties to deal with it for the benefit of others.

A confidential relationship between Grayce and her son Lewellyn and daughter-in-law Connie was plead in Plaintiff's Complaint. The District Court found the parent and child relationship between the parties which shifted the burden of proof. See record 145 and 146 - Findings 1, 2 and 3.

In Baker v. Pattee, Utah Supreme Court (1984) 684 P.2d 632 it was held:

A confidential relationship is presumed between parent and child, attorney and client and trustee and cestui que trust. Blodgett v. Martsch, 590 P.2d 298 (Utah 1978)

Baker also held:

Where a confidential relationship exists, a presumption of unfairness arises which must be overcome by countervailing evidence, and the burden shifts to the Defendant to prove absence of unfairness by a preponderance of the evidence. Robertson v. Campbell, 674 P.2d 1226 (Utah 1993) ...

The District Court after hearing all of the evidence determined a trust did exist and Lewellyn agreed:

I'll keep all of the property for a year. Mom can apply for Social Security. If nobody says anything for a year, then we should be safe and I'll give all the property back to her. In the meantime, she can continue living in the house. (R. 141)

Findings of Fact 33 and 34 of the District Court (R. 138) were:

33. More than one year had passed since Lloyd's death.

34. No claims had been made by Social Security, Veteran's Administration or any other Medicare or long-term provider.

Based upon these findings the Court made the following

Conclusions of Law:

1. A constructive trust was created for the benefit of the Plaintiff. (R. 138)

Not only did Defendant have the obligation of meeting the shifted burden of proof because of the confidential relationship, the evidence as to the trust was convincing. Attention is invited to Appellee's Statement of Facts and the Findings and Conclusions of the lower court. It is impressive to observe summary statements of the witnesses.

Plaintiff's witnesses stated:

1. Grayce Hurd testified as to the discussions leading to the transfer of the property and that all of the property owned by herself and Lloyd was transferred to Lewellyn and Connie without consideration. Grayce paid all expenses in making the transfers.

She further testified concerning the representations of Lewellyn in accepting the trust that he would hold the property for her benefit and transfer it back to her after a year.

2. Iris Meir (sister of Lewellyn) stated Lewellyn said: I want to wait one year and make sure that everything is settled down and okay and then this property will be back in Mother's name so that she can run her own affairs and not have to be dependent on anybody (Tr. 87-L. 8-12).

Also, I've got her money in this special account and all I have to do is write out a check for whatever she needs.

3. Paul Sherman (Lewellyn's brother) had several conversations with Lewellyn in which Lewellyn ratified his trust responsibility. He was told "Paul don't worry, I'll get things back in Mom's name." ... And

I will sign everything back to her within a year. Everything should be out of danger ...

Statement by Connie to Paul on the day of Lloyd's funeral (7th of June, 1992): Connie said:

If anything happens to Lew, or Lew doesn't turn things back in your Mom's name, I'll make sure it gets back in her name.

Defendant's witnesses all agreed that there was a trust relationship between the parties.

1. Keith Eddington stated:

Well he (Lloyd) did want to give the power of attorney to Lewellyn because he said he trusted him.

Q. Now if it was a trust relationship, did he tell you what he wanted accomplished?

A. Not in specifics. He did make statements regarding Lewellyn's concern for his mother and I gathered from what he was saying it was more his financial position than anyone else ...

He also stated:

But that would have been one of his concerns was Grayce was taken care of.